THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

The State of South Carolina.....Respondent,

v.

Bruce Antwain Hill.....Appellant.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2011-199807

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED

JUL 31 2013

SC Court of Appeals

Jonathan M. Hiller, Esq.  
HILLER & HILLER, PA  
1053 London St., Ste. B  
Myrtle Beach, SC 29577  
843-626-2835

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

### I

The trial judge erred when he granted the State's request to disallow any mention of the conviction of Richard Gagnon for the same crimes for which Appellant stood trial.

### II

The trial judge erred when he admitted into evidence a letter sent from SLED to local Horry County law enforcement, which indicated Appellant had a criminal record.

### III

The trial judge erred when he granted the State a six month continuance of the 180 days it had to bring Appellant to trial under the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 28, 2009, Appellant was charged with murder and first-degree burglary. (R. p. 15, lines 3-6). These charges arose out of a 2005 double-homicide committed in Horry County. In 2008, Appellant's codefendant, Richard Gagnon, was convicted of the same double homicide in a separate jury trial before the Honorable Judge Steven H. John. (R. p. 12, lines 16-23).

When Appellant was charged with this crime, he was serving time in Tennessee. On August 26, 2010, pursuant to the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act, Appellant requested the final disposition of all untried South Carolina charges pending against him. (R. pp. 345-46). The Horry County Clerk of Court and the Office of the Solicitor of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit received Appellant's request on September 3, 2010. (R. p. 350).

Appellant's jury trial before The Honorable Steven H. John began on September 12, 2011. Prior to the start of the trial, three hearings occurred. The first was held on March 1, 2011 and concerned a motion for a continuance brought by the solicitor. The hearing resulted in a six-month extension of time for the solicitor to call Appellant's case to trial. (R. p. 16, line 23 - p. 17, line 2).

The second was a Schmerber hearing conducted on March 17, 2011. The result of this hearing was a court order that required Appellant to provide an involuntary DNA sample for testing. (R. p. 37, lines 14-25).

The third hearing concerned pre-trial matters. It was conducted on September 1, 2011. As a result of this hearing, Appellant was prevented from any mention to the jury of the 2008 murder and burglary conviction of his codefendant, Richard Gagnon. (R. p. 58, lines 9-21). Judge John presided over each of these pretrial hearings.

On September 14, 2011 the jury returned a verdict that found Appellant guilty of both murder and first-degree burglary. (R. p. 329, lines 11-25). Judge John denied Appellant's new trial motion, declined to reconsider any of the ruling made during the pendency of Appellant's case, and reaffirmed his prior rulings. (R. p. 334, lines 8-22). At sentencing Appellant received life in prison without the possibility of parole on each murder indictment and a concurrent thirty-year sentence on the burglary indictment. (R. p. 337, lines 6-18). Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal with the South Carolina Court of Appeals on September 21, 2011.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The evidence that ultimately linked Appellant to the 2005 double homicide was four drops of blood collected from the crime scene. (R. p. 144, line 13-p. 145, line 25). Caulder, an Horry County Police Department (HCPD) crime scene investigator, testified he collected these blood drops from the crime scene as evidence items three, four, seven and thirteen. (R. p. 150, line 24-p. 151, line 10). Though Caulder claimed to collect this evidence from the crime scene on April 12, 2005, he kept physical custody of the blood drops until April 19, 2005. (R. p. 182, line 15-p. 183, line 18). On cross-examination he maintained that as long as the blood drops were with him they were in evidence. (R. p. 175, lines 15-p. 176, line 16). The day he turned this crucial evidence into the secure evidence facility was the day it went to Columbia for testing. (R. p. 193, lines 18-23).

On April 21, 2005, Lambert, a DNA analysis employed by the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED) initiated testing of the blood drops. (R. p. 217, line 21-p. 219, line 1). On June 26, 2007, SLED published the result of the DNA test. (R. p. 220, lines 1-2). The report concluded that the blood drops belonged to an unknown

individual. (R. p. 225, lines 12-23). Lambert's last responsibility with regard to his testing of the blood drops was to upload the unknown DNA sample he developed into a database that contains both known and unknown DNA samples from crime scenes. (R. p. 225, line 24-p. 226, line 10).

On May 28, 2009, McClure, the SLED DNA Database Unit supervisor, ran a DNA database search that generated a report linking the DNA standard developed by Lambert to Appellant. (R. p. 230, lines 20-25). SLED then sent a letter to the HCPD to inform them that the unknown DNA profile developed by Lambert had been submitted to the COmbined DNA Index System (CODIS) and matched with a DNA profile developed from Appellant. (R. p. 232, lines 10-18). Over the objection of the defense, the letter was submitted into evidence and published to the jury. (R. p. 231, line 17-p. 232, line 9).

At some point after Appellant's DNA profile was linked to the unknown profile collected from the crime scene in 2005, agents with the HCPD travelled to Tennessee to meet with Appellant. (R. p. 26, lines 18-21). Testimony indicates these agents may have obtained a Tennessee search warrant to collect a DNA sample from Appellant, but the paperwork and potential results related to that endeavor were lost, and the agents who went to Tennessee subsequently left the employment of the HCPD. (R. p. 27, lines 9-25).

On August 26, 2010, Appellant filed a request under the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act for the disposition of all his untried South Carolina charges. (R. p. 346). The correctional facility in which Appellant was then housed, Northeast Correctional Complex in Mountain City, Tennessee, sent both the Office of the Solicitor of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit and the Horry County Clerk of Court copies of Agreement on Detainer Forms II, III and IV on September 1, 2010 via Certified Mail, Return Receipt

Requested. (R4. pp. 344-49). The solicitor's office and the clerk's office both acknowledged receipt of Appellant's request for disposition of his pending South Carolina charges on September 3, 2010. (R. p. 350).

In response, via letter dated September 15, 2010, the solicitor's office served Agreement on Detainers Form VII and set October 21, 2010 as the date that custody of Appellant would transfer from Tennessee to South Carolina. (R. p. 342). Via letter dated September 22, 2010, the solicitor's office confirmed October 21, 2010 as the date custody of Appellant would transfer to South Carolina and provided Agreement on Detainer Form VI, which projected Appellant would be tried on or about November 8, 2010. (R. p. 339).

On March 1, 2011, Deputy Solicitor Richardson appeared before Judge John to request an extension of the time in which to bring Appellant to trial. He calculated the time given to South Carolina under the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act would run on March 4, 2011 unless the court granted the State a continuance. (R. p. 13, lines 9-17). In support of his motion, Richardson pointed out that Appellant had yet to complete his seven-year sentence in Tennessee, recalled the preparation that was involved in Richard Gagnon's trial, unsuccessful plea negotiations with Appellant, and the fact that the State had yet to schedule or conduct a Schmerber hearing. (R p. 13, line 22-p. 14, line 12).

Appellant opposed the State's motion for a continuance. He argued that Richard Gagnon's trial was irrelevant to the State's prosecution of Appellant, as no identifiable connection exists between Appellant and Richard Gagnon. (R. p. 15, lines 12-21). He also stressed the fact that the State had failed to even schedule a Schmerber hearing and pointed out that Appellant was unable to earn good time credit in Tennessee while awaiting his trial in South Carolina. (R. p. 16, lines 1-19).

Judge John ruled the State demonstrated good cause for a six-month extension of time in which to bring Appellant to trial and found that a six-month continuance would not prejudice Appellant's rights or prove unduly burdensome to him. (R. p. 16, line 23-p. 17, line 4). The court further noted Richard Gagnon's trial was complicated and required much preparation and ordered the State to conduct its Schmerber hearing on Wednesday, March 9, 2011. (R. p. 17, lines 4-23).

This hearing took place on March 17, 2011. (R. p. 239, lines 15-18). Appellant opposed the Schmerber motion. (R. p. 21, lines 19-22). As its lone witness, the State called Cox, an investigator with HCPD. Cox testified to his second-hand knowledge of the details surrounding the DNA testing done by SLED on the unknown blood sample from the 2005 crime scene and the subsequent CODIS match to Appellant's DNA in 2009. (R. p. 25, line 17-p. 26, line 17). Cox, who was one of the officers that responded to the crime scene in 2005, then testified to his knowledge of the location from where the four blood drops that SLED tested were collected. (R. p. 29, lines 7-23).

Cross-examination elicited the admission that, though he read it in the past, Cox did not bring documentation of the CODIS hit on Appellant to the hearing. (R. p. 30, lines 10-25). Cox further testified that he did not know how to read the results of DNA tests. (R. p. 31, lines 3-13). Based on these admissions, Appellant argued that the State failed to present any documentary evidence to support the testimony and further that the State's witness was not qualified to testify regarding the accuracy of the alleged DNA test. (R. p. 33, line 18-p. 34, line 5; R. p. 35, lines 12-20).

Judge John found that the State presented sufficient probable cause of Appellant's involvement in the double-homicide (and another unsolved Horry County crime) to allow

the court ordered collection of non-testimonial identification evidence from Appellant. (R. p. 37, lines 1-25). After the Schmerber hearing, Cox used buccal swabs to collect DNA evidence from the inside of Appellant's cheek. (R. p. 238, line 25-p. 239, line 6). The DNA sample collected from Appellant was sent to SLED, which tested it, developed a DNA profile and then issued a report on April 14, 2011. (R. p. 257, lines 14-16).

The final pretrial hearing was held on September 1, 2011. Judge John decided several matters that impacted Appellant's trial. First, the State asked for a ruling that would keep Appellant from any mention of Richard Gagnon's conviction for the same crime. (R. p. 51, line 25-p. 52, line 21). Judge John first ruled that he would address whether he would allow Appellant to raise the issue of Richard Gagnon's conviction at the close of the State's case if that fact had not been brought out during the State's case. (R. p. 53, line 3-p. 54, line 10).

Appellant argued that he should be allowed to question any witness regarding the participation and presence of Richard Gagnon in the double-homicide, because the State had placed both Appellant and Richard Gagnon at the scene at the same time, (R. p. 54, lines 13-20), and because Richard Gagnon's conviction is a matter of public record. (R. p. 55, lines 2-21). The State responded that Richard Gagnon's conviction is irrelevant to its theory of the case, which was based on DNA evidence that Appellant was involved in the crime. (R. p. 55, line 23-p. 56, line 7).

Citing to concerns about relevance, the State candidly admitted its desire to keep Appellant from mentioning Richard Gagnon's conviction during opening statements and during the cross-examination of witnesses for the State. (R. p. 56, line 23-p. 57, line 4). In response, Appellant stated the real reason the State wished to keep Richard Gagnon out

of the trial was because the State had no evidence to connect Appellant to Richard Gagnon, and that this lack of evidence connecting the two codefendants was precisely the information the State wished to keep from the jury. (R. p. 57, lines 9-15).

Judge John ruled he would only allow Appellant to cross-examine on the general topic of another person's participation in the double homicide. He agreed with the State that Richard Gagnon's conviction for the same crime was irrelevant to Appellant's trial. He also found that it would invade the jury's role of fact finder to hear another person was already convicted of the same crime. (R. p. 57, lines 16-25). He concluded that the information would make it easy for the jury to convict Appellant as they could convict him simply because Richard Gagnon had been convicted without treating evidence of Appellant's involvement in the crime separately. (R. p. 58, lines 9-21). As he concluded that information about Richard Gagnon's conviction would harm Appellant at trial, Judge John refused to allow Appellant to mention Richard Gagnon. (R. p. 60, lines 8-19).

The second matter raised at the September 1, 2011 pre-trial hearing involved the State's desire to inform the jury that Appellant's DNA profile was linked to the double homicide through a CODIS hit. The State assured the court that it would not prejudice Appellant by referring to Appellant's incarceration in Tennessee and that it only wanted to refer to CODIS as a national DNA database which provided the initial link between the blood drops at the crime scene and Appellant. (R. p. 60, line 25-p. 61, line 8). Appellant argued no reference to CODIS was necessary, as the State could rely on the SLED profile that resulted from the Schmerber hearing to link his DNA to the crime scene. (R. p. 61, lines 11-15). Appellant further argued that any mention of – or reference to – CODIS would prejudice him as it could give the jury an indication of Appellant's criminal record,

since “the jury can sit there and say ‘well, I ain’t [sic] in no database so he must, ergo, have a criminal record, and must have been previously incarcerated.’ I would object to that, Your Honor.” (R. p. 61, lines 15-21).

Judge John found that considering the passage of time between the 2005 double homicide and Appellant’s arrest for the crime in 2009, he would allow the State to go into background information that would help explain the delay in the prosecution of Appellant and further ruled this testimony would not prejudice Appellant. (R. p. 62, lines 16-22). Judge John also made clear that the State was not to explain how or why Appellant’s DNA was uploaded to CODIS or that Appellant was arrested in Tennessee. (R. p. 62, line 23-p. 63, line 8).

Appellant then renewed his objections to the court’s grant of the continuance on March 1, 2011 and argued that the State failed to present any specific reasons to show why the continuance was necessary and pointed the court to the fact that Appellant was not even indicted until thirty days after the extension was granted. (R. p. 66, lines 7-12). Appellant maintained the State failed to show any good cause as to why it should receive a continuance; the grant of a continuance constituted an abuse of discretion, and that Appellant’s charges should be dismissed as a remedy. (R. p. 66, line 13-p. 67, line 2).

The State acknowledged that it relied on the complexity of preparing a double homicide case for trial and again mentioned plea negotiations with Appellant to support its request for an extension and stated that Judge John exercised proper discretion when he granted a six-month extension on March 1, 2011. (R. p. 67, line 5-p. 68, line 2). The State also reminded the court that Appellant’s defense counsel requested one continuance of the trial. (R. p. 68, lines 3-10). In response, Appellant stated that the only written plea

offer to Appellant was dated March 8, 2011, thus post-dating the continuance by seven days. (R. p. 68, lines 12-15). Appellant further stated the second extension was requested in mid-June for unrelated matters. (R. p. 68, lines 16-24). (This extension did extend Appellant's trial beyond the six-month continuance Judge John granted.)

In reconsidering his ruling on the continuance, Judge John linked the grant of the six month extension to the State's then-outstanding need to conduct a Schmerber hearing, affirmed his prior ruling on the State's requested continuance and found no violation of the 180 day requirement which is set forth in the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act. (R. p. 69, line 2-p. 70, line 18).

The last matter put on the record on September 1, 2011 was a renewed objection to Judge John's order from the Schmerber hearing that required Appellant to provide involuntary, non-testimonial identification evidence. Appellant argued the State's failure to present any documentation of the CODIS hit or the SLED DNA analysis prevented the court from making neutral and detached determination as to whether to grant the State's motion. (R. p. 70, line 20-p. 72, line 2). Judge John declined to reconsider his prior ruling without the opportunity to first review a copy of the Schmerber hearing transcript. (R. p. 73, lines 10-18).

Appellant's trial began on September 12, 2011. Over Appellant's objection, the State admitted the results of the DNA profile created by Lambert in 2007 into evidence. (R. p. 221, lines 3-21). When the State sought to admit the result of the DNA testing of the evidence collected from Appellant as a result of the Schmerber hearing, the evidence was again admitted over Appellant's objection. (R. p. 255, lines 17-24). The State rested on September 14, 2011, and the court denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict.

(R. p. 302, line 23-p. 304, line 1). After a recess, Appellant rested his case without putting up a defense. (R. p. 309, line 23-p. 310, line 1). The jury was excused to deliberate at 12:55 p.m. on September 14, 2011, and returned their verdict of guilty at 3:35 p.m. (R. p. 49, lines 16, 19).

#### ARGUMENT

Appellant raises three distinct errors committed by the trial judge. First, the trial judge erred when he ruled that Appellant could not mention the conviction of Richard Gagnon in opening argument, on cross-examination and, by extension, during closing summation. The trial judge cited relevance and a concern regarding one potential jury reaction to evidence of Richard Gagnon's conviction. This ruling prejudiced Appellant in two ways. It lessened the burden imposed on the State to obtain a conviction, as it allowed the State to avoid any need to attempt to connect Appellant and Richard Gagnon. It also weakened a primary theme in Appellant's defense strategy considerably.

Second, the trial judge erred when, over an objection from Appellant, he admitted the May 28, 2009 letter from SLED to Horry County law enforcement into evidence. The letter was unnecessary to the presentation of the State's case. Its admission in evidence highly prejudiced Appellant by indicating his prior criminal record to the jury.

Third, the trial judge erred when, on March 1, 2011, the very last of the 180 days the State had to bring Appellant to trial under the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act, he granted the State a six month continuance at its request when the State failed to show good cause for its motion. The continuance was not reasonable as the State had not even extended one plea offer to Appellant, indicted Appellant on his criminal charges or took the basic step of scheduling the Schmerber hearing needed to bring Appellant to trial.

**I. The trial judge erred when he excluded any mention of the conviction of Richard Gagnon from Appellant’s trial.**

In criminal cases, South Carolina appellate courts review error of law only and are bound by the factual findings of the trial court unless clearly erroneous. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). “A court’s ruling on the admissibility of evidence will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion or the commission of legal error that results in prejudice to the defendant.” State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 377, 580 S.E.2d 785, 793 (Ct. App. 2003).

Further, “[e]rror may not be predicated on a ruling to admit or exclude evidence unless a substantial right of a party is affected.” Rule 103(a), SCRE. “[T]o warrant reversal based on the admission or exclusion of evidence, the complaining party must prove both the error of the ruling and the resulting prejudice.” State v. Commander, 384 S.C. 66, 73, 681 S.E.2d 31, 35 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing Vaught v. A.O. Hardee & Sons, Inc., 366 S.C. 475, 480, 623 S.E.2d 373, 375 (2005)). “To establish prejudice, the appellant must convince this Court that there is a reasonable probability that the jury’s verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence.” Id. at 74, 681 S.E.2d at 35 (citing Fields v. Reg’l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005)).

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