ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Horry County
Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Appellant,

v.

BRUCE A. HILL,

Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2011-199807

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

J. ANTHONY MABRY
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 11973
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-6305

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit
P. O. Drawer 1276
Conway, SC 29528-1276
(843) 915-5460

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
JUL 25 2013
SC COURT OF APPEALS

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

Hill contends on appeal he is entitled to dismissal with prejudice of the indictments and convictions for the murders of Charles and Diane Parker and the burglary of their home because under the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act (IAD) he is entitled to dismissal of the charges

¹²The letter from the Horry County Police Department informed the Tennessee prison officials that the Solicitor would extradite Hill upon his release from prison there or possibly bring him back before the expiration of the sentence. However, neither of these two (2) ever occurred. The State did not seek to extradite Hill or seek his return under Article IV of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act. (June 9, 2009 letter to Tenn. DOC from Horry Police).

where the State did not bring him to trial within 180 days of his request for disposition or it did not obtain a continuance for good cause. Hill is wrong for three (3) separate reasons: (1) Hill is not entitled to dismissal of his convictions because the IAD was not triggered in this case; (2) the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in granting a timely continuance request where good cause was shown and the continuance was reasonable and necessary; and (3) Hill waived any right to dismissal by requesting a continuance himself.

I.

The Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act is an interstate compact entered into by 48 states, including South Carolina, also the District of Columbia, and the federal government. S.C. Code Ann. Section 17-11-10; State v. Tucker, 276 S.C. 412, 656 S.E.2d 403 (Ct. App. 2008). As a result, in interpreting the statute it must be remembered the Act is an interstate compact entered into by the signatory parties.¹³ Hill's *request* for disposition was made under Article III of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act (IAD) which reads as follows:

- (a) Whenever a person has entered upon a term of imprisonment in a penal or correctional institution of a party state, and whenever during the continuance of the term of imprisonment there is pending in any other party state *any untried indictment, information or complaint on the basis of which a detainer has been lodged against a prisoner*, he shall be brought to trial within one hundred eighty days after he shall have caused to be delivered to the prosecuting officer and the appropriate court of the prosecuting officer's jurisdiction written notice of the place of his imprisonment and his request for a final disposition to be made of **the indictment, information or complaint**; provided, that for good cause shown in open court, the prisoner or his counsel being present, the court having jurisdiction of the matter may grant any necessary or reasonable continuance.

¹³As a congressionally sanctioned interstate compact within the Compact Clause of the United States Constitution, Art. I, Section 10, cl. 3, the IAD is a federal law subject to federal construction. New York v. Hill, 528 U.S. 110, 111 (2000); Cuyler v Adams, 449 U.S. 433 (1981).

S.C. Code Ann. Section 17-11-10, Art. III (2003)(emphasis added). Further, throughout the IAD, not just in Article III, the Act refers to detainees *based on* “untried indictments, informations, or complaints.” S.C. Code Ann. Section 17-11-10 Art. I, Art. II, Art. III, Art. IV, Art. V.

Hill’s argument that Judge John erred under the IAD in granting a continuance of the 180 days to bring him to trial under Article III fails because the IAD and its time provisions were not triggered and are not applicable in this case. The “detainer”¹⁴ filed against Hill by police was based on arrest warrants, not an “untried indictment, information or complaint” as provided in the Act. Several jurisdictions which have addressed this issue have found that a detainer based only on an arrest warrant or warrants does not trigger the IAD 180 day provision under which the State must bring a defendant to trial, because it is not a detainer *based on* an “untried indictment, information, or complaint” as set forth in the Act. Herbert v. State, 288 Ga. 843, 708 S.E.2d 260 (Ga. 2011)(detainer based on arrest warrant and not pending indictment does not bring defendant within protections of the IAD);¹⁵ State v. Carlton, 276 Ga. 693, 583 S.E.2d 1 (2003)(IAD does not apply to detainees based on arrest warrants or unindicted charges); Denson v. State, 376 Ga. App. 456, 459, 731 S.E.2d 130, 132-33 (Ga. App. 2012)(same);¹⁶ Churchwell v. State, 44 So.3d 645 (Fla. App. 2010)(detainer based on arrest warrants alone is not an “untried indictment, information, or

¹⁴For IAD purposes a detainer is “a request filed by a criminal justice agency with the institution in which a prisoner is incarcerated, asking the institution either to hold the prisoner for the agency or to notify the agency when release of the prisoner is imminent.” Fex v. Michigan, 507 U.S. 43, 44 (1993); Carchman v. Nash, 473 U.S. 716, 719, 205 S.Ct. 3401, 3403 (1985).

¹⁵The South Carolina Supreme Court has previously relied on Georgia’s interpretation of the IAD. See State v. Johnson, 278 S.C. 668, 301 S.E.2d 138 (1983).

¹⁶For additional information see Williams v. County of Forsyth, 2008 W.L. 4445074 (N.D. Ga. 2008)(*Unpublished*).

complaint” and does not trigger the IAD); Taylor v. State, 582 So.2d 152 (Fla. Ct. App. 1991)(detainer based only on arrest warrant does not constitute detainer based on “untried indictment, information, or complaint” and IAD was therefore not triggered or applicable);¹⁷ Locklear v. Commonwealth, 7 Va. App. 659, 376 S.E.2d 793, 795 (1989)(detainer based only on arrest warrant does not fall within the meaning of an untried indictment, information or complaint as described in the IAD); Valentine v. Commonwealth, 18 Va. App. 334, 337-38, 443 S.E.2d 445, 446-47 (1994)(same, noting holding in Locklear); John L. Costello, *Virginia Criminal Law and Procedure*, Section 52.7[4], at 874 (4th Ed. 2008)(citing Locklear, 7 Va. App. at 663, 376 S.E.2d at 795);¹⁸ Crawford v. State, 669 N.E.2d 141 (Ind. 1996)(detainer based on arrest warrant is not based on indictment, information, or complaint as meant in the Act and therefore does not trigger IAD time requirements);¹⁹ State v. Robinson, 863 N.E.2d 894, 897 (Ind. Ct. App. 2007); Blakely v. District Court, 232 Mont. 178, 755 P.2d 1380, 1384 (1988)(similar); see United States v. Bottoms, 755 F.2d 1349 (9th Cir. 1985); United States v. Hall, 974 F.2d 1201 (9th Cir. 1994); United States v. Fulford, 825 F.2d 3, 20 (3rd Cir. 1987).²⁰

¹⁷For additional information see Welleske v. Buss, 2011 W.L. 4056085 (N.D. Fla. 2011)(Unpublished).

¹⁸For additional information see Smith v. Commonwealth, 2010 W.L. 5071192 (Va. App. 2010)(Unpublished); Payton v. Commonwealth, 2009 W.L. 1286418 (Va. App. 2009)(Unpublished).

¹⁹North Carolina appears to agree with these decisions. See State v. Prentice, 170 N.C. App. 593, 613 S.E.2d 498 (N.C. Ct. App. 2005)(holding arrest warrant can serve as a detainer and trigger the IAD only if it is based on a true-billed indictment pending before the court, as there was in this case, but must also meet other required factors, which were not met in this case).

²⁰Contra State v. Moore, 774 S.W.2d 590 (Tenn. 1989)(noting “[w]hile we think the better view and the more consistent interpretation of the Compact is that an untried ‘indictment,

Like the jurisdictions cited above, a defendant in South Carolina cannot be tried or immediately brought to trial on an arrest warrant for murder and burglary in the 1st degree. He must be indicted. S.C. Const. Art. I, Section 11; S.C. Code Ann. 17-19-10, 30. Therefore, a detainer based solely on an arrest warrant for these charges does not trigger the 180 day time provision of the compact. Carlton; Churchwell; Locklear; Crawford; Blakely. Further, South Carolina, like other courts, has construed what constitutes a detainer triggering the Act stringently. State v. Knowles, 275 S.C. 312, 270 S.E.2d 133 (1980)(conditional revocation of probation warrant does not constitute detainer based on untried indictment, information or complaint that triggers the IAD).²¹

The above cited decisions comport with the language throughout the IAD which refers to detainees *in signatory states* based on “untried indictments, informations, or complaints.” S.C. Code Ann. Section 17-11-10 Art. I, Art. II, Art. III, Art. IV, Art. V. *See specifically S.C. Code Ann.* Section 17-11-10, Art. II.(c)(“*Receiving state*’ shall mean the state **in which trial is to be had on** an indictment, information or complaint pursuant to Article III or Article IV hereof.”) *emphasis added*. The IAD by its very name and nature is an interstate compact (or treaty) between the signatory parties, and what it is contemplating is a mechanism for disposing of detainees *based on untried formal charging documents* which can be immediately brought to trial such as an indictment,

information, or complaint’ is a charging instrument upon which the requesting state may proceed to trial, and not merely a warrant of arrest..”, because *of practice* of filing detainees based on arrest warrants court refused to overrule previous decision that an arrest warrant can trigger the provisions of the IAD). *See also State v. Smith*, 316 Md. 223, 557 A.2d 1343 (1989).

²¹Although this specific issue was not raised, in another case dealing with the IAD, this Court appeared to follow a similar interpretation of the language in question here. *See State v. Adams*, 354 S.C. 361, 580 S.E.2d 785 (Ct. App. 2003)(“The IAD clearly requires an inmate send written notice to the appropriate prosecuting officer of his desire for final disposition of outstanding indictments against him in that jurisdiction.”).

information, or criminal complaint. State v. Carlton, 276 Ga. 693, 583 S.E.2d 1 (2003)(A complaint stands on equal footing with an indictment or information on bringing charges to trial, noting a common sense reading of Art. III. of the IAD dictates that a complaint must be a charging instrument upon which an individual can go to trial, and the use of the word “untried” as a qualifier for all three terms, “indictment, information, or complaint,” logically compels the conclusion that one must be able to be tried on each); Locklear v. Commonwealth, 7 Va. App. 659, 376 S.E.2d 793 (1989)(recognizing there are some states in which documents entitled complaints are instruments upon which detainees could be immediately tried upon return to the receiving state and this is what the Act refers to not arrest warrants); Crawford v. State, *supra* at 148 (similar).

Finally, if the drafters of the IAD intended for detainers based on mere arrest warrants to be covered by the Act, they could have done so by simply stating that the Act applied to detainers based on arrest warrants; however, they did not. Locklear v. Commonwealth, 7 Va. App. 659, 376 S.E.2d 793 (1989)(where appellant was being detained in N.C. pursuant to his prison sentence and detainer based on outstanding arrest warrant the Court found it “would be rewriting the Act if we added by interpretation the words ‘arrest warrant’ to untried indictment, information, and complaint”). Instead, the language clearly indicates the Act is only applicable to detainers based on “untried indictments, information or complaints[.]” in the receiving state. S.C. Code Ann. Section 17-11-10. As a result, since the IAD time provisions were not triggered by Hill’s request for disposition of a detainer based only on arrest warrants, this appellate ground must be dismissed.

II.

Furthermore, even if this Court were to find that a detainer based on arrest warrants and not “an untried indictment, information, or complaint” brought Hill within the application of the Act,

Judge John did not err in finding the State had shown good cause for a continuance and granted a necessary and reasonable delay. S.C. Code Ann. Section 17-11-10, Art. III(a).

The purpose of the IAD is to encourage the expeditious and orderly disposition of outstanding charges against prisoners and the determination of the proper status of any and all detainees based on untried indictments, information, or complaints. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-11-10, Art. I. (2003); United States v. Mauro, 436 U.S. 340 (1978); State v. Patterson, 273 S.C. 361, 256 S.E.2d 417 (1979); *see also* State v. Finley, 277 S.C. 548, 551, 290 S.E.2d 808, 809 (1982); State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 580 S.E.2d 785 (Ct. App. 2003). However, as this Court found in State v. Tucker, 376 S.C. 412, 416, 656 S.E.2d 403, 405 (Ct. App. 2008), “[n]umerous courts have held the rights created by the IAD are statutory in nature and do not rise to the level of constitutionally guaranteed rights.”²² Further, this Court in Tucker recognized the Third Circuit’s characterization of the IAD as “a set of procedural rules,” and its reasoning that “[t]he statutory right to dismissal due to an administrative violation of these rules is therefore ‘not “fundamental” even though its impact

²²*See* Reed v. Farley, 512 U.S. 339, 352-54, 114 S.Ct. 2291, 2299-2300 (1994)(discussing IAD violation in context of non-constitutional claims); Cross v. Cunninham, 87 F.3d 586, 588-9 (1st Cir. 1996); Diggs v. Owens, 833 F.2d 439, 442 (3rd Cir. 1987)(IAD is set of procedural rules, the violation of which does not infringe upon a constitutional right); Reed v. Clark, 984 F.2d 209, 210 (7th Cir. 1993), *aff’d sub nom*, 512 U.S. 339 (1994)(IAD procedures are not constitutional rights); Camp v. U.S., 587 F.2d 397, 400 (8th Cir. 1978)(“the IAD amounts to nothing more than a statutory set of procedural rules which clearly do not give rise to the level of constitutionally guaranteed rights.”); Greathouse v. U.S., 655 F.2d 1032, 1034 (10th Cir. 1981)(*per curiam*)(IADA rights are statutory, not fundamental or constitutional in nature); Yellen v. Cooper, 828 F.2d 1471 (10th Cir. 1987)(same); Pethel v. McBride, 219 W.Va. 578, 638 S.E.2d 727 (2006)(same); Seymore v. Alabama, 846 F.2d 1355, 1359 (11th Cir. 1988)(addressing IADA as non-constitutional claim); State v. Vinson, 182 S.W.3d 709, 711 (Mo. Ct. App. 2006)(IAD rights are statutory not constitutional); Finley v. State, 295 Ark. 357, 748 S.W.2d 643, 647 (1988)(IAD provisions do not rise to the level of constitutionally protected rights); State v. Noonahal, 241 Wis. 2d 397, 626 N.W.2d 1, 4 (Ct. App. 2001)(rights under IAD are statutory, not constitutional, in nature)

on a defendant may be great.” *Id.*, quoting United States v. Palmer, 574 F.2d 164, 167 (3rd Cir. 1978).²³ See also People v. Nitz, 219 Ca. App. 3d 164, 170 268 Cal. Rptr. 54 (1990)(“[t]he IAD amounts to nothing more than a set of procedural rules, and the rights it protects in no way affect the fairness and accuracy of the fact-finding procedure or other due process or trial rights.”).

Pursuant to Article III (a) of the IAD, resolution of detainers based on untried indictments, information or complaints against a prisoner can be triggered by the prisoner filing a request for a “final disposition” and that request for disposition must be honored by way of holding a trial within one hundred and eighty (180) days. New York v. Hill, 528 U.S. 110, 112 (2000). However, that provision is subject to continuance for good cause. *Id.* See also S.C. Code Ann. § 17-11-10. “[A]ny requested continuance may be granted only at or prior to the expiration of the 180 day period prescribed in the statute.” State v. Patterson, 273 S.C. 361, 363, 256 S.E.2d 417, 418 (1979).²⁴

Article III of the Act reads as follows:

²³Violation of the provisions of the IAD does not make out a claim of lack of subject matter jurisdiction in the trial/sentencing court. State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 580 S.E.2d 785 (Ct. App. 2003); Pethel v. McBride, 219 W.Va. 578, 638 S.E.2d 727 (W.Va. 2006)(cataloging federal and state cases). Nor does violation of IAD provisions alone make out a cognizable claim on federal habeas review. Reed; Matheney v. Hamby, 488 U.S. 913, n. 1 (1988)(White, J. dissenting)(pointing out majority rule, holding IAD violations without more do not state federal habeas claim); Bush v. Muncey, 659 F.2d 402, 408 (4th Cir. 1981); Kerr v. Finkbeiner, 757 F.2d 604, 607 (4th Cir. 1985)(violation of 180 day rule not cognizable); Seymour (violation of IAD is not fundamental defect cognizable in federal habeas absent showing of prejudice); Lara v. Johnson, 141 F.3d 239, 242 (5th Cir. 1998)(must show fundamental defect causing miscarriage of justice); Remeta v. Singletary, 85 F.3d 513, 519 (11th Cir. 1996)(to be cognizable defendant must show violation of IAD prejudiced him by affecting or impugning the integrity of the fact finding process); Pethel v. McBride, 219 W.Va. 578, 638 S.E.2d 727 (W.Va. 2006)(cataloging cases).

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